

# Multiphase free discontinuity problems: Monotonicity formula and regularity results

Dorin Bucur, Ilaria Fragalà, Alessandro Giacomini

### ▶ To cite this version:

Dorin Bucur, Ilaria Fragalà, Alessandro Giacomini. Multiphase free discontinuity problems: Monotonicity formula and regularity results. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré C, Analyse non linéaire, 2021, 38 (5), pp.1553-1582. 10.1016/j.anihpc.2020.12.003 . hal-04723986

## HAL Id: hal-04723986 https://hal.science/hal-04723986v1

Submitted on 13 Nov 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License

### MULTIPHASE FREE DISCONTINUITY PROBLEMS: MONOTONICITY FORMULA AND REGULARITY RESULTS

#### DORIN BUCUR, ILARIA FRAGALÀ, ALESSANDRO GIACOMINI

ABSTRACT. The purpose of this paper is to analyze regularity properties of local solutions to free discontinuity problems characterized by the presence of multiple phases. The key feature of the problem is related to the way in which two neighboring phases interact: the contact is penalized at jump points, while no cost is assigned to no-jump interfaces which may occur at the zero level of the corresponding state functions. Our main results state that the phases are open and the jump set (globally considered for all the phases) is essentially closed and Ahlfors regular. The proof relies on a multiphase monotonicity formula and on a sharp collective Sobolev extension result for functions with disjoint supports on a sphere, which may be of independent interest.

#### Contents

1. Introduction and statement of the main result	1
2. The multiphase extension theorem	5
2.1. The case of regular admissible data	7
2.2. Approximation of admissible data	12
2.3. Proof of the multiphase extension theorem	13
3. The monotonicity formula	14
4. The decay estimate	15
4.1. A subarmonicity result for multiphase local minimizers of the Dirichlet energy	16
4.2. Asymptotic behaviour of sequences with vanishing jumps and deviation	18
4.3. Proof of the decay estimate	24
5. Proof of Theorem 1.2	25
References	27

#### 1. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE MAIN RESULT

Free discontinuity problems characterized by the presence of multiple phases arise naturally in different contexts, such as image reconstruction or models in thermo-elasticity.

The aim of the paper is to study a class of these *multiphase free discontinuity problems* which, in view of the interaction of the different phases, exhibit also some features similar to those of *free boundary problems*. In particular we will focus on regularity properties of local solutions.

Before entering into the description of the results, let us briefly address two model problems. It is not our purpose to solve or describe these problems in full details, but just to serve them as meaningful motivations to attack the study of local minimizers to multiphase free discontinuity problems. Further examples can be drawn from the analysis of different phenomena in applied sciences, such as for instance quasistatic crack evolution (Francfort-Marigo [20]) or columnar jointing

© 2020 published by Elsevier. This manuscript is made available under the CC BY NC user license https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 35R35, 49Q10, 49N60.

Key words and phrases. Multiple phases, free discontinuities, monotonicity formula, decay estimate.

D.B. is senior honorary member of the Institut Universitaire de France. I.F. and A.G. are members of the Gruppo Nazionale per L'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e loro Applicazioni (GNAMPA) of the Istituto Nazionale di Alta Matematica (INdAM).

of cooling lava (Jungen [23]), clusters of Cheeger sets (Caroccia [10]) or spectral partition problems related to the Robin Laplacian [3].

Multiphase Mumford-Shah problem. As a first prototype example, one can consider the celebrated segmentation problem by Mumford and Shah (see [21, 18] for a review). Actually, the original formulation of the problem presented in [25] was of multiphase type, the primary underlying idea being that of decomposing the domain of an input image into different regions, and then reconstructing a new image allowed to have jumps across the boundaries of such regions. The ensuing developments via different approaches (by De Giorgi-Carriero-Leaci [17] or Dal Maso-Morel-Solimini [15]) led genuinely to a single phase problem, in which the boundaries of the different regions are seen as the jump set of a single state function. By this way the notion of phase is fatally lost, because the jump set of the state function has no a priory reason to decompose the original image into disconnected regions. Nevertheless, the necessity to extract distinct objects (possibly exhibiting themselves inner jumps) is highly present in image reconstruction, as testified by the abundant literature devoted to the attempt of forcing phase separation in the original spirit by Mumford and Shah. With no attempt of completeness, see [11, 26, 12, 22, 24, 27, 28] and references therein. It is however an evidence that these models refer essentially to the simplistic case of piecewise constant functions, and are mainly focused on the numerical side. Thus, a satisfactory mathematical study of the Mumford-Shah functional in a multiphase context seemed to be missing. To fill this gap, in our recent paper [4] we introduced a relaxed multiphase Mumford-Shah problem; given an open bounded set  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ , positive coefficients  $\alpha_i, \beta_i$ , and a function f on  $\Omega$  with values into [0, 1], it reads as follows:

(1.1) 
$$\inf\left\{\overline{MMS}(\omega,\mathbf{U}) : (\omega,\mathbf{U}) \in \mathcal{A}_k(\Omega) \times \mathcal{F}(\omega)\right\},\$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_k(\Omega) := \left\{ \omega := (\Omega_1, \dots, \Omega_k) : (\Omega_1, \dots, \Omega_k) \text{ is a Caccioppoli partition of } \Omega \right\}$$
$$\mathcal{F}(\omega) = \left\{ \mathbf{U} := (u_1, \dots, u_k) \in (SBV(\mathbb{R}^d))^k : u_i = 0 \text{ a.e. on } \Omega_i^c \text{ for every } i = 1, \dots, k \right\},\$$

with

$$\overline{MMS}(\omega, \mathbf{U}) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{\Omega_i} \alpha_i |\nabla u_i|^2 + \beta_i \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \left( (\partial^e \Omega_i \cup J_{u_i}) \cap \Omega \right) \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{E}_i(\Omega_i, u_i) \,.$$

Here  $\partial^e \Omega_i$  and  $J_{u_i}$  denote respectively the essential boundary of  $\Omega_i$  and the jump set of  $u_i$ , while the energies  $\mathcal{E}_i$  are fidelity terms to the image f (see [4]).  $SBV(\mathbb{R}^d)$  stands for the space of special functions of bounded variation in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

We point out that, in problem (1.1), the full perimeter of each phase is penalised in the energy. In spite, the purpose of this paper is to analyse *hybrid* interactions between phases, in which the jump part of the contact between the neighbouring phases is penalised, while interfaces occuring at the zero level of the state function are not. A multiphase Mumford-Shah problem which is essentially different from (1.1) and fits the framework of this paper can be formulated as

(1.2) 
$$\min_{\substack{u_i \in SBV(\Omega) \\ u_i \cdot u_j = 0 \text{ for } i \neq j}} \sum_{i=1}^k \left[ \alpha_i \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 dx + \beta_i \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i}) \right] + \int_{\Omega} \left( \sum_{i=1}^k u_i - f \right)^2 dx.$$

Notice that, precisely because in (1.2) the contact at zero level is not penalized in terms of energy interface, the situation is locally similar to the interaction of the *free boundaries*, and such a problem is appropriate to reconstruct images having some constant background.

Multiphase thermal insulation problem. As a second example, let us address the thermal insulation of multiple obstacles, in the spirit of Caffarelli-Kriventsov [9] (see also [19] for a related problem). As above, we consider a bounded open set  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ , in which we now place a family of compact, pairwise disjoint subsets  $G_1, \ldots, G_k$  representing the obstacles. We assume that the background temperature is 0, while the temperature of the obstacles is 1. Then, if each obstacle is isolated by a conducting material with unitary cost m > 0 which is enveloped with an insulating thin layer of characteristic  $\beta > 0$  and of unitary cost l, the multiphase insulation problem reads

(1.3) 
$$\min \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 dx + \beta \int_{J_{u_i}} (u_i^+)^2 + (u_i^-)^2 d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + l\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i}) + m |\{u_i > 0\}| \right],$$

the minimization being carried in the class

$$\left\{u_i \in SBV(\Omega) : u_i = 1 \text{ on } G_i, \, u_i \cdot u_j = 0 \text{ for } i \neq j\right\}$$

As well as in case of problem (1.2), let us point out that, in problem (1.3), the interaction between the neighbouring phases involves no penalty of the interface when the contact occurs at the zero level of the state function.

Let us now get to the heart of the matter, and drive our attention to the generic, local formulation of the problem. Since we deal with multiple phases, each one with possible free discontinuities, the natural functional framework is given by the class

(1.4) 
$$\mathcal{U}(\Omega) := \left\{ u = (u_1, \dots, u_k) \in (SBV(\Omega))^k : u_i \cdot u_j = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega \text{ for } i \neq j \right\}.$$

Here, as in the models described above,  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and  $SBV(\Omega)$  denotes the space of special functions of bounded variation in  $\Omega$  introduced by De Giorgi-Ambrosio [16]; we refer to [1] for a detailed account of the mathematical background.

Minimizers of the previous model problems fit naturally into the following notion of multiphase local minimizers.

**Definition 1.1 (Multiphase local almost quasi-minimizers).** We say that  $u = (u_1, \ldots u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  is a multiphase local almost-quasi minimizer at the point  $x \in \Omega$  (with parameters  $(\Lambda, \alpha, c_{\alpha})$ ), if there exist constants  $\Lambda \geq 1$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ , and  $c_{\alpha} \geq 0$  such that, for every ball  $B_{\rho}(x) \subset \Omega$  and every  $(v_1, \ldots, v_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  such that  $\bigcup_i \{v_i \neq u_i\} \subseteq B_{\rho}(x)$ , it holds

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_{i}} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}(x)) \right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla v_{i}|^{2} dx + \Lambda \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_{i}} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}(x)) \right) + c_{\alpha} \rho^{d-1+\alpha}.$$

The words "almost" and "quasi" in the terminology refer respectively to the presence of the coefficient  $\Lambda \geq 1$  in front of the jump terms and to power decay of order higher than (d-1) of the deviation from minimality. The definition above is a natural multiphase analogue of the one introduced in [5] for a *single* phase problem.

The main result of the paper is the following.

**Theorem 1.2** (Regularity of multiphase local almost-quasi minimizers). Let  $u = (u_1, \ldots u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  be a local almost-quasi minimizer of a multiphase free discontinuity problem at every point  $x \in \Omega$ .

- The function u is Hölder continuous on  $\Omega \setminus \overline{\bigcup_i J_{u_i}}$ , so that each phase

$$\Omega_i := \left\{ x \in \Omega \setminus \overline{\bigcup_j J_{u_j}} : u_i \neq 0 \right\}$$

is open in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

– The union of the jump sets  $\bigcup_i J_{u_i}$  is essentially closed and Ahlfors regular, meaning respectively that

$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}\left(\overline{\bigcup_{i} J_{u_i}} \setminus \bigcup_{i} J_{u_i}\right) = 0,$$

and that there exist c > 0 and  $\rho_0 > 0$  such that, for every  $x \in \bigcup_i J_{u_i}$  and every  $B_{\rho}(x) \subset \Omega$ with  $\rho < \rho_0$ , it holds

(1.5) 
$$c\rho^{d-1} \leq \mathcal{H}^{d-1}\left(\bigcup_{i} J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x)\right) \leq \frac{1}{c}\rho^{d-1}.$$

Before commenting on the proof of Theorem 1.2, some words are in order about "no-jump interfaces". To clarify what we mean, if we associate with an element  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_k)$  in  $\mathcal{U}(\Omega)$ the k phases  $\Omega_i = \{u_i \neq 0\}$ , the interaction between two distinct phases  $\Omega_i, \Omega_j$  may be of different nature, according to whether it occurs at jump points of the state functions  $u_i, u_j$ , or at their zero level. A complete analysis of local minimizers to multiphase free discontinuity problems should include also the study of the regularity of such no-jump interfaces. At this level, since the length of the boundaries of the phases are not counted in our notion of multiphase local almost-quasi minimizers, the problem becomes of free boundary type, with the distinguished feature of dealing with quasi-minimality instead of minimality. However, if we go back to the model problems (1.2) and (1.3), the regularity of the no-jump interfaces can be derived from the analysis of multiphase free boundary problems (see for instance [7], [8], [14]).

We prove Theorem 1.2 by extending to the multiphase context the techniques developed in [5] concerning the *monotonicity formula* for the Mumford-Shah functional, and the *decay estimate* of [17] for local minimizers. These tools lead quickly, as in the one phase case, to the closedness and the Ahlfors regularity of the (global) jump set: however, in view of the interactions of the phases, these extensions turn out to involve quite delicate issues.

A pivotal ingredient in the proof of the monotonicity formula of [5] is the following sharp estimate:

(1.6) 
$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \tilde{w}|^2 dx \le \frac{\rho}{d-1} \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} w|^2 d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

where  $B_{\rho}$  is a ball of radius  $\rho$ ,  $w \in H^1(\partial B_{\rho})$ ,  $\tilde{w}$  is the harmonic extension of w in  $B_{\rho}$ , and  $\nabla_{\tau}$  stands for the tangential gradient. A multiphase version of the previous inequality is also fundamental to address the monotonicity issue for the associated multiphase free discontinuity problem. Establishing such an inequality, interesting in itself, turns out to be very delicate. In Theorem 2.1, we prove that for every  $(w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_{\rho}))^k$ , with  $w_i \cdot w_j = 0$  on  $\partial B_{\rho}$ , we can extend them to functions  $(\tilde{w}_1, \ldots, \tilde{w}_k) \in (H^1(B_{\rho}))^k$ , with  $\tilde{w}_i \cdot \tilde{w}_j = 0$  inside  $B_{\rho}$ , in such a way that

(1.7) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{i}|^{2} dx \leq \frac{\rho}{d-1} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} w_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$

The difficult part in the proof of the previous result is to show that the inequality holds true with the sharp constant  $\rho/(d-1)$  for every given setting of data on  $\partial B_{\rho}$ . In this respect, let us stress that the radial extensions are not enough accurate to obtain the inequality, as there are equality cases in which the optimal functions  $\tilde{w}_i$ 's are not radial (equality occurs for k = 1, 2, corresponding to positive and negative parts of an affine function). Actually, the optimal extension of the boundary functions is based on the solution of a multiphase free boundary problem with homogeneous Dirichlet conditions (see Definition 2.2), which has been firstly considered in [14]. We get the result by manipulating some integral identities for the solution to this problem, which take into account in a subtle way their fine regularity properties established by Conti-Terracini-Verzini [14] and Caffarelli-Lin [8, 7]. The interaction of the various phases plays a delicate role also in adapting in our version of the decay estimate of De Giorgi, Carriero and Leaci [17], which is the content of our Theorem 4.1.

In the classical case, the decay estimate follows from the analysis of the asymptotic behavior of sequences of configurations with vanishing jump set and vanishing deviation from minimality: through a suitable truncation procedure (involving a Poincaré estimate in SBV), a limit configuration arises which turns out to be a local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy (jumps are disappearing, and the deviation vanishes), and this provides the crucial energetic information for the conclusion.

In the multiphase setting, the analysis requires to distinguish the cases when the sequence of functions mantains its multiphase character in the limit (see Proposition 4.5) from that in which one phase prevails onto the others (see Proposition 4.6). The crucial information in the first alternative is provided by the analysis of local multiphase minimizers of the Dirchlet energy (see Proposition 4.3).

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we establish the sharp extension estimate (1.7) (see Theorem 2.1). Section 3 contains the monotonicity formula for multiphase local almost quasi-minimizers. The decay estimate is addressed in Section 4, while the proof of Theorem 1.2 is contained in Section 5.

Notation. Throughout the paper, for every pair of closed sets  $A, B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  we will denote with dist(A, B) the distance between A and B. We will also write  $A \subset \subset B$  if the closure  $\overline{A}$  is compact and contained in B. If  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ , |E| will denote its Lebesgue measure, while  $\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}(E)$  will stand for its  $\alpha$ -dimensional Hausdorff measure.  $B_{\rho}(x)$  will stand for the open ball of center  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and radius  $\rho > 0$ . When x = 0, we will write simply  $B_{\rho}$ : we set  $\omega_d := |B_1|$ .

Concerning functional spaces, if  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  is open,  $H^1(A)$  will stand for the usual space Sobolev functions which are square integrable together with their weak partial derivatives, while SBV(A)will denote the space of special functions of bounded variation on A. We will consider also functions in  $H^1$  or SBV on open subsets of spheres, which are defined locally through coordinate systems.

Finally for  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , we set  $a \wedge b := \min\{a, b\}$ .

#### 2. The multiphase extension theorem

The present Section is devoted to establish the following sharp multiphase gradient extension estimate.

**Theorem 2.1** (Multiphase sharp gradient estimate). For every  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_\rho))^k$ with  $w_i \cdot w_j = 0$  on  $\partial B_\rho$ , it holds

$$\min\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{i}|^{2} dx : (\tilde{w}_{1}, \dots, \tilde{w}_{k}) \in (H^{1}(B_{\rho}))^{k}, \ \tilde{w}_{i}|_{\partial B_{\rho}} = w_{i}, \ \tilde{w}_{i} \cdot \tilde{w}_{j} = 0 \ in \ B_{\rho}\right\}$$
$$\leq \frac{\rho}{d-1} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} w_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

where  $\nabla_{\tau}$  denotes the tangential gradient.

Up to rescaling and by considering positive and negative parts, it is not restrictive in the proof of Theorem 2.1 to assume

(2.1) 
$$\rho = 1$$
 and  $w_i \ge 0$  for  $i = 1, \dots, k$ .

Notice indeed that if  $w_i w_j = 0$ , then  $w_i^+ w_j^+ = w_i^+ w_j^- = w_i^- w_j^+ = w_i^- w_j^- = 0$ .

In order to prove Theorem 2.1, we focus our attention on the following variational problem. Below, we say that w is an *admissible datum* if  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_1))^k$ , with  $w_i \ge 0$  and  $w_i \cdot w_j = 0$  on  $\partial B_1$ . **Definition 2.2 (Multiphase extension problem).** For every admissible datum  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_1))^k$ , i.e., such that  $w_i \ge 0$  and  $w_i \cdot w_j = 0$  on  $\partial B_1$ , we denote with  $\mathcal{P}(w)$  the following minimal energy extension problem

(2.2) 
$$\min\Big\{\sum_{i=1}^{k}\int_{B_1}|\nabla \tilde{w}_i|^2\,dx\,:\,\tilde{w}_i\in H^1(B_1)\,,\,\tilde{w}_i|_{\partial B_1}=w_i\,,\,\tilde{w}_i\cdot\tilde{w}_j=0\,\,in\,\,B_1\Big\}.$$

Notice that the family of extensions is not empty: indeed one can consider for example radial extensions of the form

$$\hat{w}_i(x) := |x| w_i\left(\frac{x}{|x|}\right) \qquad x \neq 0$$

which however, as noticed in the Introduction, turn out to be not optimal.

The proposition below collects some (known) properties of the solution to problem (2.2).

**Proposition 2.3** (Properties of the solution to the multiphase extension problem). Let w be an admissible datum. Then the following items hold true.

- (i) Problem  $\mathcal{P}(w)$  admits a unique solution.
- (ii) The solution  $\tilde{w}$  to problem  $\mathcal{P}(w)$  is Lipschitz in  $B_1$ , and it is Lipschitz up to the boundary in case w is smooth.
- (iii) For every i = 1, ..., k, the set  $\Omega_i := \{x \in B_1 : \tilde{w}_i(x) > 0\}$  is open and

$$\Delta \tilde{w}_i = 0 \quad in \quad \Omega_i.$$

(iv) Let  $x \in B_1$  be such that  $\{i : |\Omega_i \cap B_r(x)| > 0 \text{ for } r \text{ small enough}\} = \{i_1, i_2\}$ . Then

$$\lim_{\Omega_{i_1} \ni y \to x} \nabla \tilde{w}_{i_1}(y) = -\lim_{\Omega_{i_2} \ni y \to x} \nabla \tilde{w}_{i_2}(y)$$

- (v) The family of walls  $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \partial \Omega_i) \cap B_1$  is the disjoint union of a finite number of analytic hypersurfaces, and a relatively closed set having Hausdorff dimension at most d-2 and zero capacity. We shall refer to the latter as to the singular set of  $\tilde{w}$ .
- (vi) If a sequence of admissible boundary data  $w^n$  converges strongly to some w in  $H^{1/2}(\partial B_1)$ , the sequence of solutions  $\tilde{w}^n$  to problems  $\mathcal{P}(w^n)$  converges strongly in  $H^1(B_1)$  to the solution  $\tilde{w}$  to problem  $\mathcal{P}(w)$ .

*Proof.* For items (i)-(ii)-(iii)-(iv), we refer to [14], see respectively Theorem 3.1, Theorem 4.2, Theorem 5.1, Theorems 8.3 and 8.4, Remark 6.4. For item (v), we refer to [7, Section 1.6]. For item (vi), see again [14], Theorem 3.2.

In order to establish Theorem 2.1 in the non restrictive situation (2.1), it suffices to prove that for the solution  $\tilde{w}$  of problem  $\mathcal{P}(w)$  we have

(2.3) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{w}_i|^2 \, dx \le \frac{1}{d-1} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} |\nabla_\tau w_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}.$$

The proof of the previous inequality relies essentially on integration by parts of the full gradient term on each phase. More precisely, we start from the following observations:

- (a) Thanks to point (v), each phase  $\Omega_i$  has a smooth boundary inside  $B_1$  except for a set with zero capacity, which consequently plays a negligible role in the computation. The contributions of the inner interfaces to the integration by parts turn out to cancel in view of property (iv).
- (b) The sets  $\partial\Omega_i \cap \partial B_1$  do not enjoy a priori regularity properties, since they depend on the given data  $(w_1, \ldots, w_k)$ . Even if the data are smooth, the separation "lines"  $\partial\Omega_i \cap \partial\Omega_j \cap \partial B_1$  between the phases on the external boundary could be highly irregular, so that removing them through capacity arguments is not feasible.

In view of the above remarks, we are going to proceed as follows:

- In a first step, we prove inequality (2.3) for the class of smooth admissible data which determine a smooth partition of  $\partial B_1$  except for a set with zero capacity, see Subsection 2.1 (we prove indeed in this case a stronger property, *cf.* identity (2.9) below).
- Then we prove that each admissible data can be approximated by elements of this class, see Subsection 2.2.
- Finally we can obtain (2.3) in its full generality, see Subsection 2.3.

2.1. The case of regular admissible data. In this section we are going to focus attention on a particular class of admissible data. Namely we will consider

(2.4) 
$$v \in C^{\infty}(\partial B_1)^k, \quad v_i \ge 0 \text{ on } B_1$$

such that, setting

(2.5) 
$$S_i := \{ x \in \partial B_1 : v_i(x) > 0 \},\$$

we have

(2.6) 
$$\partial B_1 = E \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^k S_i, \quad S_i \cap S_j = \emptyset, \quad E \text{ is a smooth submanifold of dimension } d-2.$$

The following result holds true.

**Proposition 2.4.** Let v be an admissible datum satisfying (2.4) and (2.6), and let  $\tilde{v} = (\tilde{v}_1, \ldots, \tilde{v}_k)$  be the solution to  $\mathcal{P}(v)$ . Set  $\Omega_i := {\tilde{v}_i > 0}$ , and denote by n the outer normal to  $\partial B_1$ . Then

(2.7) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{1}} |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = d \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} dx + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{i}} (1 - |x|^{2}) |D^{2} \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} dx.$$

and

(2.8) 
$$(d-2)\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} \left| \frac{\partial \tilde{v}_i}{\partial n} \right|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

As a consequence, denoting by  $\nabla_{\tau}$  the tangential gradient, we have

(2.9) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} |\nabla_{\tau} v_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = (d-1) \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_i} (1-|x|^2) |D^2 \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx.$$

In particular, we get

$$\int_{\Omega_i} (1-|x|^2) |D^2 \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx < +\infty \qquad \text{for every } i=1,\ldots,k$$

Proof. Let us set up a geometric construction which will be exploited in the proof of identities (2.7) and (2.8). Let  $\Sigma$  be the singular set of  $\tilde{v}$  according to Proposition 2.3 (v). From point (ii) of Proposition 2.3, we infer that  $\overline{\Sigma} \cap \partial B_1 \subset E$ : indeed if  $x \in S_i$  so that  $v_i(x) > 0$ , then by Lipschitz continuity of  $\tilde{v}_i$  on  $\overline{B}_1$  we infer  $\tilde{v}_i > 0$  in  $B_r(x) \cap B_1$  for r small enough, which yields  $x \notin \overline{\Sigma}$ .

We deduce in particular that  $\overline{\Sigma}$  has zero capacity. Consequently, we can find a sequence  $(\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}, \varphi_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon>0}$  satisfying the following conditions:

- $\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}$  is a sequence of open neighborhoods of  $\overline{\Sigma}$  (in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ), monotone decreasing with respect to inclusions with  $\bigcap_{\varepsilon>0} \mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon} = \overline{\Sigma}$ , such that  $\partial \mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}$  is a smooth hypersurface and  $\partial \mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon} \cap \partial \Omega_i$  is  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -negligible;
- $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  is a sequence of piecewise smooth functions in  $\overline{B}_2$ , pointwise monotone increasing, such that, for every  $\varepsilon$ :

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon} = 1 \text{ on } \partial B_2, \qquad \varphi_{\varepsilon} \equiv 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}, \qquad \Delta \varphi_{\varepsilon} = 0 \text{ in } B_2 \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}},$$

and, in the limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ ,

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon} \to 1 \text{ in } H^1(B_2)$$
.

In particular, thanks to the regularity of  $\partial \Omega_i \setminus \overline{\Sigma}$  and since  $\tilde{v}_i$  is harmonic on  $\Omega_i$ , for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have

(2.10) 
$$\tilde{v}_i \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_i \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\varepsilon}})$$

Indeed,  $\partial\Omega_i \setminus \overline{\Sigma}$  is composed of relatively open inner regular hypersurfaces (see point (v) of Proposition 2.3) on which  $\tilde{v}_i$  has zero trace, and the relatively open subset  $S_i$  of  $\partial B_1$ , on which  $\tilde{v}_i$  has trace given by  $v_i$ . Then by classical elliptic regularity,  $\tilde{v}_i$  is smooth on  $B_r(x) \cap \overline{\Omega}_i$  for every x belonging to these parts of  $\partial\Omega_i$  provided that r is sufficiently small. Then (2.10) follows. In particular, we see that the integrals involving the full gradient and the normal derivative on the right hand side of (2.8) are well defined.

**Proof of identity** (2.7). Let *i* be a fixed index in  $\{1, \ldots, k\}$ . We are going to compute, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

(2.11) 
$$\int_{\Omega_i} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(1-|x|^2) |D^2 \tilde{v}_i|^2 dx = \int_{\Omega_i \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\varepsilon}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(1-|x|^2) |D^2 \tilde{v}_i|^2 dx$$

where  $\Omega_i := \{ \tilde{v}_i > 0 \}$ , while  $\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  are defined as above.

We point out that, by construction (due to Proposition 2.3 (v) and the choice of  $\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}$ ), we have

 $\partial\Omega_i \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}} \subset S_i \cup \Gamma_i,$ 

where  $S_i \subseteq \partial B_1$  is given in (2.5) while  $\Gamma_i \subset B_1$  is a smooth hypersurface.

In the following computations, we adopt Einstein convention on repeated indices. Moreover, for simplicity and with an abuse of notation, until otherwise stated we set  $v := \tilde{v}_i$ ,  $S = S_i$ ,  $\Gamma := \Gamma_i$ ,  $\mathcal{U} := \mathcal{U}_{\varepsilon}$ , and  $\varphi := \varphi_{\varepsilon}$ ; further, we denote by *n* the unit outer normal vector defined (everywhere) on  $\partial \Omega \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}}$ .

Notice that we can perform integration by parts on the right hand side of (2.11) thanks to (2.10) and since  $\Omega \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}}$  is piecewise regular with a singular part which is  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -negligible (in particular it has finite perimeter): since boundary integrals take place only on  $S \cup \Gamma$  (as  $\varphi = 0$  in  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ ), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi(1-|x|^2) |D^2 v|^2 dx = \int_{\Omega \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}}} \varphi(1-|x|^2) |D^2 v|^2 dx$$

$$= \int_{S} \varphi(1-x_k x_k) \partial_{ij} v \, \partial_j v \, n_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + \int_{\Gamma} \varphi(1-x_k x_k) \, \partial_{ij} v \, \partial_j v \, n_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$

$$- \int_{\Omega} \partial_i \varphi(1-x_k x_k) \, \partial_{ij} v \, \partial_j v \, dx + 2 \int_{\Omega} \varphi x_i \, \partial_{ij} v \, \partial_j v \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \varphi(1-x_k x_k) \, \partial_{iij} v \, \partial_j v \, dx$$

The first and last integrals in the latter sum vanish, respectively because |x| = 1 on  $S \subseteq \partial B_1$ , and because v is harmonic in  $\Omega$ . Thus we have

(2.12) 
$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi(1-|x|^2) |D^2 v|^2 dx = I_A + I_B + I_C,$$

being

$$I_A := \int_{\Gamma} \varphi(1 - |x|^2) \,\partial_{ij} v \,\partial_j v \,n_i \,d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$
$$I_B := -\int_{\Omega} \partial_i \varphi(1 - |x|^2) \,\partial_{ij} v \,\partial_j v \,dx$$
$$I_C := 2\int_{\Omega} \varphi x_i \,\partial_{ij} v \,\partial_j v \,dx \,.$$

We now analyze separately the three integrals above.

(a) Computation of  $I_A$ . Recall the general formula

$$\Delta v = \Delta_{\Gamma} v + (d-1) \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} H_{\Gamma} + \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial n^2} \quad \text{on } \Gamma,$$

being  $H_{\Gamma}$  the scalar mean curvature. Since v is harmonic in  $\Omega$  and vanishes on  $\Gamma$ , we get

$$\nabla v = -|\nabla v|n$$
 and  $(d-1)\frac{\partial v}{\partial n}H_{\Gamma} + \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial n^2} = 0$  on  $\Gamma$ .

Moreover we may write

$$\partial_{ij}v\partial_jvn_i = -|\nabla v|(\partial_{ij}v)n_in_j = -|\nabla v|\frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial n^2},$$

so that

$$I_A = -(d-1) \int_{\Gamma} \varphi(1-|x|^2) H_{\Gamma} \left| \nabla v \right|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \, .$$

(b) Computation of  $I_B$ . We perform a further integration by parts. Exploiting the equality |x| = 1 on  $\partial B_1$ , and the fact that  $\varphi$  is harmonic in  $\Omega \setminus \mathcal{U}$ , we get

$$I_B = -\int_{\Gamma} \partial_i \varphi \, n_i (1 - |x|^2) \partial_j v \, \partial_j v \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - 2 \int_{\Omega} \partial_i \varphi \, x_i \partial_j v \, \partial_j v \, dx - I_B \,,$$

so that

(2.13)

(2.14) 
$$I_B = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} (1 - |x|^2) |\nabla v|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \varphi \cdot x) |\nabla v|^2 \, dx$$

(c) Computation of  $I_C$ . Also in this case, we perform a further integration by parts. Exploiting the equality x = n on  $\partial B_1$ , and the identity  $\operatorname{div}(x) = d$ , we get

$$I_{C} = 2 \int_{S} \varphi \partial_{j} v \partial_{j} v n_{i} n_{i} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + 2 \int_{\Gamma} \varphi \partial_{j} v \partial_{j} v x_{i} n_{i} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - 2 \int_{\Omega} \partial_{i} \varphi |x_{i}| \nabla v|^{2} dx - 2d \int_{\Omega} \varphi |\partial_{j} v|^{2} dx - I_{C}$$

so that

$$(2.15) \quad I_C = \int_S \varphi |\nabla v|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + \int_{\Gamma} \varphi |\nabla v|^2 (x \cdot n) \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \\ - \int_{\Omega} (\nabla \varphi \cdot x) |\nabla v|^2 \, dx - d \int_{\Omega} \varphi |\nabla v|^2 \, dx \,.$$

Now, we sum up the equalities (2.12) over all the phases, that we resume to denote by  $\tilde{v}_i$ , for i = 1, ..., k. Notice carefully that, in doing so, we have cancellations of all the integrals over the hypersurfaces  $\Gamma_i$  coming from the expressions of  $I_A$ ,  $I_B$  and  $I_C$  as computed respectively in (2.13), (2.14), and (2.15). Namely

$$(d-1)\sum_{i=1}^{k}\int_{\Gamma_{i}}\varphi(1-|x|^{2})H_{\Gamma_{i}}|\nabla\tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{k}\int_{\Gamma_{i}}\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial n}(1-|x|^{2})|\nabla\tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k}\int_{\Gamma_{i}}\varphi|\nabla\tilde{v}_{i}|^{2}(x\cdot n) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = 0.$$

Indeed, for two adjacent phases, all the integrands above have the same modulus (thanks to Proposition 2.3 (iv)), and opposite sign (due to the sign change respectively of the terms  $H_{\Gamma_i}$ ,  $\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n}$ , and  $(x \cdot n)$  when passing from a phase to an adjacent one).

So far, we have obtained

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{i}} \varphi(1-|x|^{2}) |D^{2}\tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} dx = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{1}} \varphi |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - d \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \varphi |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} dx$$
$$-2 \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{i}} (\nabla \varphi \cdot x) |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}|^{2} dx.$$

10

Finally, we recall that  $\varphi = \varphi_{\varepsilon}$ , and obtain the lemma by passing to the limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in the identity above. Indeed, since the sequence  $\{\varphi_{\varepsilon}\}$  converges increasingly to 1 as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ , by monotone convergence we can pass to the limit in the first three integrals above. On the other hand, since  $\nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon} \to 0$  strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$  and  $|\nabla \tilde{v}_i| \leq M$  (thanks to the smoothness of the boundary data v and to Proposition 2.3 (iii)), we can pass to the limit also in the fourth integral and see that it is infinitesimal as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

**Proof of identity** (2.8). In the case of a single harmonic function in the ball, the proof of the lemma is standard and can be found, for instance, in [13, Appendix A]. In the multiphase context, the proof is still based on the same key, namely the minimality of the total Dirichlet energy, but contains some additional technical difficulties, due to the presence of the interfaces and their singularities.

For  $t \in (-\tau, \tau)$ , consider a one-parameter family of bi-Lipschitz homeomorphisms of  $B_1$  into itself of the form

$$\Phi_t(x) = x + t\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x), \qquad x \in B_1.$$

where

$$\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x) = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)\gamma_{\delta}(|x|) x, \qquad x \in B_1$$

Above  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  is defined as done just above Lemma 2.4, while  $\gamma_{\delta} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is an even function defined, for  $\delta \in (0, 1/2)$ , by

$$\gamma_{\delta}(t) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } 0 \le t \le 1 - \delta \\ \frac{1}{\delta}(1-t) & \text{if } 1 - \delta \le t \le 1 \\ 0 & \text{if } t \ge 1 . \end{cases}$$

Throughout the proof, for simplicity and by abuse of notation we simply write  $v_i$  in place of  $\tilde{v}_i$ . Set

$$v_i^t(x) := v_i(\Phi_t(x)), \qquad x \in B_1.$$

By the minimality of  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_k)$ , the map  $t \mapsto E(t) := \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i^t|^2 dx$  has a critical point at t = 0. In order to compute E'(0), we can argue in the same way as in the classical case of harmonic functions (see [13]). Indeed, the functions  $v_i$  are smooth on the support of  $\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}$  (by the presence of the cut-off function  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  in the definition of  $\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}$  itself). Thus, starting from the identity

$$\nabla v_i^t(x) = \nabla v_i(\Phi_t(x)) \left( I + t D \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x) \right), \quad x \in B_1$$

and, letting  $\Omega_i := \{v_i > 0\}$ , we get

$$\begin{split} E'(0) &= \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_1} \frac{d}{dt} |\nabla v_i^t|^2 \Big|_{t=0} dx \\ &= 2 \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega_i} (D^2 v_i \cdot \nabla v_i) \cdot \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \, dx + 2 \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_1} \nabla v_i \cdot (D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \cdot \nabla v_i) \, dx \\ &= - \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i|^2 \operatorname{div} \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \, dx + 2 \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_1} \nabla v_i \cdot (D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \cdot \nabla v_i) \, dx \,. \end{split}$$

(The last equality follows by noticing that  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} 2 \int_{B_1} (D^2 v_i \cdot \nabla v_i \cdot \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}) dx$  is the derivative at t = 0 of the map  $t \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i(\Phi_t(x))|^2 dx = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i|^2 \det(D\Phi_t)^{-1}(x) dx$ ).

Thus the stationarity condition E'(0) = 0 gives us the identity

(2.16) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i|^2 \operatorname{div} \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \, dx = 2 \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} \nabla v_i \cdot (D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \cdot \nabla v_i) \, dx \, .$$

It is straightforward to compute div  $\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}$  and  $D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta}$  as

div 
$$\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} = d \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) + \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \gamma'_{\delta}(|x|)|x| + \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) \left(x \cdot \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)\right)$$
  
 $D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \gamma_{\delta}(|x|)I + \gamma_{\delta}(|x|)(x \otimes \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)) + \gamma'_{\delta}(|x|)\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \left(x \otimes \frac{x}{|x|}\right)$ 

Since  $\gamma'_{\delta}(|x|) = -1/\delta$  on  $B_1 \setminus B_{1-\delta}$  and  $\gamma'_{\delta}(|x|) = 0$  on  $B_{1-\delta}$ , we infer that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} |\nabla v_{i}|^{2} \operatorname{div} \Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} dx = d \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} dx$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) \left(x \cdot \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)\right) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} dx$$
$$- \frac{1}{\delta} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1} \setminus B_{1-\delta}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) |x| |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} dx,$$

and

$$2\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \nabla v_{i} D\Psi_{\varepsilon,\delta} \cdot \nabla v_{i} \, dx = 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} \, dx$$
$$+ 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \gamma_{\delta}(|x|) \left(x \cdot \nabla v_{i}(x)\right) \left(\nabla v_{i}(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)\right) \, dx$$
$$- \frac{2}{\delta} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1} \setminus B_{1-\delta}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \frac{1}{|x|} \left(\nabla v_{i}(x) \cdot x\right)^{2} \, dx \, .$$

Passing to the limit as  $\delta \to 0$  in (2.16), we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{k} d \, \int_{B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} \, dx + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} \left( x \cdot \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \right) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} \, dx \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} 2 \, \int_{B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) |\nabla v_{i}(x)|^{2} \, dx \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{k} 2 \, \int_{B_{1}} \left( x \cdot \nabla v_{i}(x) \right) \left( \nabla v_{i}(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \right) - \sum_{i=1}^{k} 2 \, \int_{\partial B_{1}} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial n} \right)^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \, . \end{split}$$

Eventually, we obtain the lemma by passing to the limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in the above equality, since  $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \to 1$  strongly in  $H^1(B_1)$ , and since  $|\nabla v_i| \leq M$  (thanks to the smoothness of the boundary data v and to Proposition 2.3 (ii)).

**Proof of identity** (2.9). Setting

$$T := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} |\nabla_{\tau} \tilde{v}_i|^2 \ d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}, \qquad N := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_1} \left| \frac{\partial \tilde{v}_i}{\partial n} \right|^2 \ d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$

from Lemma 2.4 we have respectively

$$T + N = d \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_i} (1 - |x|^2) |D^2 \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx$$
$$T - N = (d - 2) \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx \, .$$

Solving in (T, N), we find (2.9).

.

2.2. Approximation of admissible data. In this section we prove that any admissible data  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_1))^k$  for the extension Problem 2.2 can be approximated through the regular configurations analyzed in Subsection 2.1, satisfying (2.4) and (2.6).

We shall need the following technical lemma, which employs the tool of  $\gamma$ -convergence of quasiopen sets. Here we limit ourselves to recall that, by definition, a sequence of equi-bounded quasiopen sets  $\Omega_n \gamma$ -converges to  $\Omega$  if the corresponding torsion functions  $w_{\Omega_n}$ , namely the unique minimizers in  $H_0^1(\Omega_n)$  of the functional

$$J(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\frac{1}{2} |\nabla u|^2 - u\right) \, dx$$

converge in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $w_{\Omega}$ . More details on the notion of  $\gamma$ -convergence and its applications in variational problems can be found in [2].

**Lemma 2.5.** Let D be an open bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Given two quasi-open subsets  $A_1, A_2$  of D such that  $\operatorname{cap}(A_1 \cap A_2) = 0$ , there exist two sequences  $(A_1^n, A_2^n)$  of open subsets of D such that  $A_1^n \cap A_2^n = \emptyset$  for every n and, as  $n \to +\infty$ ,  $(A_1^n, A_2^n) \to (A_1, A_2)$  in the sense of  $\gamma$ -convergence.

*Proof.* For i = 1, 2, let  $w_i$  denote the torsion function of the quasi-open set  $A_i$ , defined as above. By [6, Proposition 2.1], every point of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is a Lebesgue point of  $w_i$  and (the Lebsgue representative of)  $w_i$  is upper-semicontinuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

For a fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we consider the set

$$F_1^{\varepsilon} := \{ w_1 \ge \varepsilon \} \,.$$

By the upper semicontinuity of  $w_1$ , this set is closed. Moreover, since  $F_1^{\varepsilon} \subset A_1$ ,  $\operatorname{cap}(A_1 \cap A_2) = 0$ , and  $w_2 = 0$  q.e. on  $D \setminus A_2$ , we have that  $w_2 = 0$  q.e. on  $F_1^{\varepsilon}$ , or equivalently  $w_2 \in H_0^1(D \setminus F_1^{\varepsilon})$ .

Then, since the set  $D \setminus F_1^{\varepsilon}$  is open, the quasi-open set  $A_2$  can be approximated in the sense of  $\gamma$ -convergence by a sequence  $A_2^{\varepsilon,n}$  of open sets contained into  $D \setminus F_1^{\varepsilon}$  (see e.g. [2, Lemma 4.3.15]). Further, possibly passing to smaller open sets  $\widetilde{A}_2^{\varepsilon,n} \subset A_2^{\varepsilon,n}$  such that  $\operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{A}_2^{\varepsilon,n}, \partial A_2^{\varepsilon,n}) > 0$  and still  $\widetilde{A}_2^{\varepsilon,n} \to A_2$  in the sense of  $\gamma$ -convergence, we can assume that

$$\{w_1 > \varepsilon\} \subset D \setminus A_2^{\varepsilon, n}$$

Then the quasi-open set  $\{w_1 > \varepsilon\}$  can be approximated in the sense of  $\gamma$ -convergence by a sequence  $A_1^{\varepsilon,n}$  of open sets contained into  $D \setminus \overline{A_2^{\varepsilon,n}}$ . Again, possibly replacing  $A_1^{\varepsilon,n}$  by smaller open sets  $\widetilde{A}_1^{\varepsilon,n}$ , we can assume that

$$\operatorname{dist}(\partial A_1^{\varepsilon,n}, \partial A_2^{\varepsilon,n}) > 0.$$

So far, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have found two sequences  $(A_1^{\varepsilon,n}, A_2^{\varepsilon,n})$  of open subsets of D such that  $A_1^{\varepsilon,n} \cap A_2^{\varepsilon,n} = \emptyset$  for every n and, as  $n \to +\infty$ ,  $\gamma$ -converge to  $(\{w_1 > \varepsilon\}, A_2)$ .

The proof is achieved by letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and taking diagonal sequences.

**Proposition 2.6.** Any admissible datum  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k)$  can be approximated, in the strong topology of  $(H^1(\partial B_1))^k$ , by a sequence  $v^n = (v_1^n, \ldots, v_k^n)$  of admissible data satisfying (2.4) and (2.6).

*Proof.* We prove the statement for k = 2 phases, being the proof the same if k > 2. So we consider the case of two functions  $(w_1, w_2) \in (H^1(\partial B_1))^2$ , with  $w_i \ge 0$  and  $w_1 \cdot w_2 = 0$  on  $\partial B_1$ .

Step 1: There exist two sequences 
$$(w_1^n, w_2^n) \in (\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1))^2$$
 such that  $w_i^n \ge 0$  on  $\partial B_1$   $(i = 1, 2)$ ,  
 $\operatorname{dist}(\{w_1^n > 0\}, \{w_2^n > 0\}) > 0$ 

and

$$(w_1^n, w_2^n) \to (w_1, w_2)$$
 strongly in  $(H^1(\partial B_1))^2$ 

This is obtained as an immediate consequence of Lemma 2.5 (applied replacing D with  $\partial B_1$  by local coordinates). Indeed, the sets  $A_i := \{w_i > 0\}$  are quasi-open and satisfy the condition  $\operatorname{cap}(A_1 \cap A_2) = 0$  (since  $w_1 \cdot w_2 = 0$  on  $\partial B_1$ ). Then Lemma 2.5 ensures the existence of two sequences

of open sets  $(A_1^n, A_2^n)$  such that  $A_1^n \cap A_2^n = \emptyset$  for every n and, as  $n \to +\infty$ ,  $(A_1^n, A_2^n) \to (A_1, A_2)$ in the sense of  $\gamma$ -convergence. In particular, since  $w_i \in H_0^1(A_i)$ , by the Mosco-convergence of the spaces  $H_0^1(A_i^n)$  to  $H_0^1(A_i)$  (cf. [2, Proposition 4.5.3]), we can find  $(v_1^n, v_2^n) \in H_0^1(A_1^n) \times H_0^1(A_2^n)$  which converge to  $(w_1, w_2)$  strongly in  $(H^1(\partial B_1))^2$ . Possibly passing to  $\max\{v_i^n, 0\}$  it is not restrictive to assume that  $v_i^n \ge 0$  (i = 1, 2). In turn, since the sets  $A_i^n$  are open, for every fixed n we can find sequences  $(\varphi_1^{n,k}, \varphi_2^{n,k}) \subset C_c^{\infty}(A_1^n) \times C_c^{\infty}(A_2^n)$  (still with non-negative values), which converge to  $(v_1^n, v_2^n)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(A_1^n) \times H_0^1(A_2^n)$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Passing to a diagonal sequence  $(w_1^n, w_2^n) := (\varphi_1^{n,k(n)}, \varphi_2^{n,k(n)})$  we get the claim of Step 1.

**Step 2**: Let  $(w_1^n, w_2^n) \in (\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1))^2$  be as in Step 1. For every fixed *n*, there exists  $(\varphi_1^{n,k}, \varphi_2^{n,k})_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in (\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1))^2$  with

$$(\varphi_1^{n,k},\varphi_2^{n,k}) \to (w_1^n,w_2^n)$$
 strongly in  $(H^1(\partial B_1))^2$ 

such that, for every k, setting  $S^{n,k}_i:=\{\varphi^{n,k}_i>0\}$  it holds

$$\partial B_1 = S_1^{n,k} \cup S_2^{n,k} \cup E^{n,k},$$

where  $E^{n,k}$  is a smooth (d-2)-dimensional submanifold, and the sets  $S_1^{n,k}, S_2^{n,k}, E^{n,k}$  are mutually disjoint.

Indeed, we can proceed as follows. Considering the well separated compact sets  $\overline{\{w_i^n > 0\}}_{i=1,2}$ , we can find a relatively open set with smooth boundary  $S_1^n \subseteq \partial B_1$  such that

$$\overline{\{w_1^n > 0\}} \subset S_1^n \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\{w_2^n > 0\}} \subset \partial B_1 \setminus \overline{S_1^n} := S_2^n$$

Through a partition of unity argument, we can construct  $\psi_i^n \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1)$  with  $\psi_i^n \ge 0$  and such that

$$S_i^n = \{\psi_i^n > 0\} \qquad i = 1, 2$$

The conclusion follows by setting

$$\varphi_i^{n,k} := w_i^n + \frac{1}{k} \psi_i^n, \qquad S_i^{n,k} := S_i^n \qquad \text{and} \qquad E^{n,k} := \partial S_i^n$$

where the boundary is taken clearly in the relative topology of  $\partial B_1$ .

**Step 3: Conclusion**. Let  $(\varphi_1^{n,k}, \varphi_2^{n,k}) \in (\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1))^2$  be as in Step 2. Passing to a diagonal sequence, namely setting

$$(v_1^n,v_2^n):=(\varphi_1^{n,k(n)},\varphi_2^{n,k(n)})$$

we obtain the proposition. Indeed, by construction,  $(v_1^n, v_2^n)$  are admissible data satisfying (2.4) and (2.6), and converging strongly to  $(w_1, w_2)$  in  $H^1(\partial B_1)$ .

2.3. Proof of the multiphase extension theorem. Let  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_k) \in (H^1(\partial B_1))^k$  be an admissible datum. Let  $v^n = (v_1^n, \ldots, v_k^n) \subset (\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\partial B_1))^k$  be a sequence as given by Proposition 2.6. By Proposition 2.4, for every n a solution  $\tilde{v}^n = (\tilde{v}_1^n, \ldots, \tilde{v}_k^n)$  to problem  $\mathcal{P}(v_n)$  satisfies

(2.17) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{1}} |\nabla_{\tau} v_{i}^{n}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = (d-1) \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} |\nabla \tilde{v}_{i}^{n}|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{i}^{n}} (1-|x|^{2}) |D^{2} \tilde{v}_{i}^{n}|^{2} dx ,$$

where  $\Omega_i^n := \{\tilde{v}_i^n > 0\}$ . Moreover, by Proposition 2.3 (vi), the sequence  $\{\tilde{v}^n = (\tilde{v}_1^n, \ldots, \tilde{v}_k^n)\}$  converges strongly in  $(H^1(B_1))^k$  to the solution  $\tilde{w} = (\tilde{w}_1, \ldots, \tilde{w}_k)$  to problem  $\mathcal{P}(v)$ .

Then we pass to the limit as  $n \to +\infty$  in (2.17). Since the quantities

$$\int_{\partial B_1} |\nabla_{\tau} v_i|^2 \, dx \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{B_1} |\nabla \tilde{v}_i|^2 \, dx$$

are strongly continuous respectively in  $H^1(\partial B_1)$  and in  $H^1(B_1)$ , we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{1}} |\nabla_{\tau} w_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = (d-1) \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{i}|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \liminf_{n} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{i}^{n}} (1-|x|^{2}) |D^{2} \tilde{v}_{i}^{n}|^{2} dx$$
$$\geq (d-1) \min\left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{1}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{i}|^{2} dx : \tilde{w}_{i}|_{\partial B_{1}} = w_{i}, \, \tilde{w}_{i} \cdot \tilde{w}_{j} = 0 \text{ in } B_{1} \right\}.$$

#### 3. The monotonicity formula

In this section we establish the following multiphase version of the monotonicity formula in [5].

**Theorem 3.1 (Multiphase monotonicity formula).** There exists a dimensional constant  $c_d$  such that, if  $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  is a multiphase local almost-quasi minimizer at  $x \in \Omega$ , with parameters  $(\Lambda, \alpha, c_{\alpha})$  according to Definition 1.1, then the mapping

$$\rho \mapsto F_u(\rho) := \left[\frac{1}{\rho^{d-1}} \sum_{i=1}^k \left( \int_{B_\rho(x)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_\rho(x)) \right) \right] \wedge \frac{c_d \Lambda^{2-d}}{d-1} + (d-1) \frac{c_\alpha}{\alpha} \rho^\alpha$$

is non decreasing on  $(0, dist(x, \partial \Omega))$ .

As mentioned in the Introduction, the above result is obtained along the same proof line of [5]. In particular, one establishes the result for d = 2, and then obtains the general case by induction on the space dimension. We emphasize that the key point is to replace inequality (1.6) by the sharp gradient multiphase estimate given by Theorem 2.1. With this weapon in hand, the proof given in [5] can be followed line by line, making purely formal adjustments. For this reason we omit the proof in its full length, and we limit ourselves to present it in the 2d case, both for the sake of the reader, and because the 2d setting includes already several interesting applications, for instance in image segmentation.

Below we assume d = 2. In this case we can set  $c_2 := 1$ . Moreover, it is not restrictive to consider x = 0. Let  $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  be a local  $(\Lambda, \alpha, c_\alpha)$ -almost-quasi minimizer of a multiphase free discontinuity problem at 0. For  $\rho \in I := (0, dist(0, \partial \Omega))$ , we can write  $F_u(\rho)$  as

$$F_u(\rho) = \frac{E_u(\rho)}{\rho} \wedge 1 + \frac{c_\alpha}{\alpha} \rho^\alpha,$$

where

$$E_u(\rho) := \sum_{i=1}^k \left( \int_{B_\rho(0)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^1(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_\rho(0)) \right).$$

In the remaining of the proof, we write for brevity F, E in place of  $F_u, E_u$ .

Since the map  $\rho \mapsto E(\rho)$  is non decreasing on I, we have that E belongs to  $BV_{loc}(I)$ . As a consequence the distributional derivative of E is a nonnegative measure DE such that

$$DE = E' \, d\rho + \mu_E$$

where E' denotes the density of the absolutely continuous part of DE, and

$$\mu_E = [E^+ - E^-]\mathcal{H}^0 \sqcup J_E + D^c E$$

stands for its singular part.

From the chain rule in BV (see [1, Theorem 3.99]), we have that  $F \in BV_{loc}(I)$ , with

$$DF = F' d\rho + \mu_F$$

1

`

where

$$F'(\rho) = \begin{cases} c_{\alpha} \rho^{\alpha-1} & \mathcal{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. on } I_{+} := \left\{ E(\rho) > \rho \right\} \\ \frac{E'(\rho)}{\rho} - \frac{E(\rho)}{\rho^{2}} + c_{\alpha} \rho^{\alpha-1} & \mathcal{L}^{1}\text{-a.e. on } I_{-} := \left\{ E(\rho) < \rho \right\}. \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mu_F = \left(\frac{E^+(\rho) - E^-(\rho)}{\rho} \wedge c_2\right) \mathcal{H}^0 \sqcup J_E + \left(\frac{E(\rho)}{\rho} \wedge c_2\right) D^c E \ge 0.$$

Hence, in order to show that F is non decreasing, it is enough to prove that the density  $F' \ge 0$  a.e. on I.

Clearly  $F'(\rho) \ge 0 \mathcal{L}^1$ -a.e. on  $I_+$ . Let us show that the same holds true also on  $I_-$ . Assume by contradiction that

$$F'(\rho) < 0$$
  $\mathcal{L}^1$  -a.e. on a subset  $J$ ,

where  $J \subset I_{-}$  with  $\mathcal{L}^{1}(J) > 0$ . In this case, for  $\mathcal{L}^{1}$ -a.e.  $\rho \in J$ , we have

(3.1) 
$$E'(\rho) < \frac{E(\rho)}{\rho} - c_{\alpha}\rho^{\alpha} < 1.$$

In view of the coarea formula for rectifiable sets (see [1, Theorem 2.93]), we obtain that for a.e.  $\rho \in J$ 

$$(3.2) \quad 1 > E'(\rho) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^1 + \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{\mathcal{H}^1(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho+h}) - \mathcal{H}^1(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho})}{h} \right]$$
$$\geq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} u_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^1 + \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{1}{h} \int_{\rho}^{\rho+h} \mathcal{H}^0(J_{u_i} \cap \partial B_s) \, ds \right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} u_i|^2 \, d\mathcal{H}^1 + \mathcal{H}^0(J_{u_i} \cap \partial B_{\rho}) \right],$$

from which we get  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{H}^{0}(J_{u_{i}} \cap \partial B_{\rho}) = 0$  and consequently

$$\iota_{|\partial B_{\rho}} \in (H^1(\partial B_{\rho}))^k.$$

By Theorem 2.1, we get the existence of a function  $\tilde{w} \in (H^1(B_\rho))^k$  with  $\tilde{w}_{|\partial B_\rho} = u_{|\partial B_\rho}$ ,  $\tilde{w}_i \cdot \tilde{w}_j = 0$ and such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_{i}|^{2} dx \leq \rho \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} |\nabla_{\tau} u_{i}|^{2} d\mathcal{H}^{1}.$$
(2.1) we deduce

Coming back to (3.2) and (3.1) we deduce

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \tilde{w}_i|^2 \, dx \le \rho E'(\rho) < E(\rho) - c_{\alpha} \rho^{\alpha+1},$$

that is

$$\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_\rho} |\nabla \tilde{w}_i|^2 \, dx + c_\alpha \rho^{\alpha+1} < E(\rho).$$

But this is against the fact the u is a local almost-quasi minimizer (by taking the trial function  $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_k)$  defined by  $z_i = \tilde{w}_i \chi_{B_\rho} + u_i \chi_{\Omega \setminus B_\rho}$ ), so that the result follows.

#### 4. The decay estimate

In this section we establish a multiphase extension of the decay estimate of De Giorgi, Carriero and Leaci [17].

For any  $u := (u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  (see (1.4)),  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , and  $c \ge 0$ , we define

$$\Phi(u,c,A) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{A} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + c \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \left( J_{u_i} \cap A \right) \right] \,,$$

and we set Dev(u, c, A) the minimum  $\lambda \ge 0$  such that

(4.1) 
$$\Phi(u,c,A) \le \Phi(v,c,A) + \lambda$$

for every competitor  $v \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  such that  $\{u \neq v\} \subset \subset A$ . For c = 1 we write simply  $\Phi(u, A)$  and Dev(u, A).

The decay estimate is the following.

**Theorem 4.1 (Multiphase decay estimate).** There exists  $C_d > 0$  such that for every  $\tau \in ]0,1[$ there exist  $\varepsilon(\tau), \vartheta(\tau)$  such that if  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega), B_{\rho}(x) \subset \Omega$  and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x)) < \varepsilon(\tau)\rho^{d-1}, \qquad Dev(u, B_{\rho}(x)) \le \vartheta(\tau)\Phi(u, B_{\rho}(x)),$$

then

(4.2)  $\Phi(u, B_{\tau\rho}(x)) \le C_d \tau^d \Phi(u, B_{\rho}(x)).$ 

Loosely speaking, the argument to prove the decay estimate in the classical case is as follows (see the presentation of [1, Chapter 7]). One proceeds by contradiction: by rescaling, one is led to consider a sequence  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  on  $B_1$  with vanishing jump set and vanishing deviation along which (4.2) is violated. If  $(u_n)$  admits a limit configuration u, one expects u to be a Sobolev function (jumps are vanishing) which is a local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy (deviation is going to zero). In particular u is harmonic on  $B_1$ , so that the energy in  $B_{\tau}$  behaves like  $\hat{C}_d \tau^d$  with  $\hat{C}_d$  a dimensional constant, and this yields to a contradiction if (4.2) is assumed to be violated. The limit configuration is obtained through suitable truncations, employing Poincaré type inequalities in SBV.

We adapt the same procedure to the multiphase setting as follows.

- (a) In Section 4.1 (Proposition 4.3), we prove an auxiliary result about a subharmonicity property of local multiphase minimizers for the Dirichlet energy on  $B_1$ .
- (b) In Section 4.2, we describe the asymptotic behaviour of a sequence of elements in  $\mathcal{U}(B_1)$  for which the deviation from minimality and the total length of the jumps go to zero: we will treat separately the cases where more than one or just one phase are prevailing in the limit (see Propositions 4.5 and 4.6). Limit configurations are recovered which are local minimizers of the multiphase or the scalar Dirichlet energy.
- (c) Finally in Section 4.3 we give the proof of Theorem 4.1.

#### 4.1. A subarmonicity result for multiphase local minimizers of the Dirichlet energy. We set the following Definition.

**Definition 4.2** (Multiphase local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy). We say that  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m) \in H^1(B_1; \mathbb{R}^m)$  with  $u_i \cdot u_j = 0$  for  $i \neq j$  is a multiphase local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy if

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx \le \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx$$

for every  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m) \in H^1(B_1; \mathbb{R}^m)$  with  $v_i \cdot v_j = 0$  and  $\{v \neq u\} \subset \subset B_1$ .

In the case m = 1, the preceding definition reduces to the usual one of local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy.

We will need the following subarmonicity result.

**Proposition 4.3.** Let  $(v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_m) \in H^1(B_1; \mathbb{R}^m)$  be a local multiphase minimizer of the Dirichlet energy. Then the function  $\sum_{i=1}^m |\nabla v_i|^2$  is subharmonic in  $B_1$ .

*Proof.* It is not restrictive to assume that the functions are positive (considering positive and negative parts, we obtain a (2m)-multiphase local minimizer of the Dirichlet energy). To get the conclusion, it suffices to check that

$$-\Delta\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} |\nabla v_i|^2\right) \le 0 \qquad \text{in the sense of distributions on } B_1,$$

i.e.,

(4.3) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} \Delta \varphi |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \ge 0$$

for every  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(B_1)$  with  $\varphi \ge 0$ .

Let us denote with  $\Gamma$  the interfaces in  $B_1$  associated to  $(v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_m)$ . By Proposition 2.3 we have that  $\Gamma$  is the disjoint union of analytic hypersurfaces and a relatively closed set  $\Gamma_0$  having Hausdorff dimension at most d-2 and zero capacity: indeed for every  $\rho < 1, (v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_m)$  is a solution to problem (2.2) on  $B_\rho$  with respect to its own boundary data. We may therefore proceed integrating by parts on each phase, disregarding the set  $\Gamma_0$  which plays no role since it has zero capacity.

We may write integrating by parts

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} \Delta \varphi |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \int_{B_1} |\partial_k v_i|^2 \partial_{jj} \varphi \, dx$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \left[ \int_{\Gamma} |\partial_k v_i|^2 \partial_j \varphi n_j \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - 2 \int_{B_1} \partial_k v_i \partial_k y_i \partial_j \varphi \, dx \right].$$

Notice that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \int_{\Gamma} |\partial_k v_i|^2 \partial_j \varphi n_j \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\Gamma} |\nabla v_i|^2 \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = 0$$

since at the interface between  $v_i$  and  $v_j$  we have  $\nabla v_i = -\nabla v_j$  (see Proposition 2.3), while the normals are oppositely oriented. We infer integrating again by parts, taking into account that each  $v_i$  is harmonic on its phase

(4.4) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} \Delta \varphi |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx = -2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \left[ \int_{\Gamma} \partial_k v_i \partial_{kj} v_i \varphi n_j \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + \int_{B_1} |\partial_{kj} v_i|^2 \varphi \, dx \right].$$

Since  $v_i = 0$  on  $\Gamma$ , we have

$$\partial_k v_i = \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial n} n_k$$
 and  $\sum_{k,j=1}^d \partial_{kj} v_i n_k n_j = -(d-1) \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial n} H_{\Gamma}$  on  $\Gamma$ .

where  $H_{\Gamma}$  stands for the mean curvature. Again by cancellation due to the different sign of  $H_{\Gamma}$  on the two sides of the interfaces we deduce

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \int_{\Gamma} \partial_k v_i \partial_{kj} v_i \varphi n_j \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial n} n_k \partial_{kj} v_j \varphi n_j \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$
$$= -(d-1) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{\Gamma} H_{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial n}\right)^2 \varphi \, d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = 0.$$

Equality (4.4) thus yields

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_1} \Delta \varphi |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx = -2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{k,j=1}^{d} \int_{B_1} |\partial_{kj} v_i|^2 \varphi \, dx \le 0$$

so that (4.3) follows, and the proof is complete.

4.2. Asymptotic behaviour of sequences with vanishing jumps and deviation. We begin with a useful lemma:

**Lemma 4.4.** Let  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in  $SBV(B_1)$  with  $u_n \ge 0$ ,

$$\int_{B_1} |\nabla u_n|^2 \, dx \le C, \qquad \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n}) \to 0$$

and such that

(4.5) 
$$\liminf_{n} |\{u_n = 0\}| > 0.$$

Then there exist a subsequence  $(u_{n_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ ,  $\tau_{n_k} \ge 0$ ,  $u \in H^1(B_1)$  and c > 0 such that setting

$$\bar{u}_{n_k} := u_{n_k} \wedge \tau_{n_k}$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\{u_{n_k} \neq \bar{u}_{n_k}\}| &\leq c \left(\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_{n_k}})\right)^{d/d-1},\\ \bar{u}_{n_k} \rightarrow u \qquad strongly \ in \ L^2(B_1), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\int_{B_1} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \le \liminf_k \int_{B_1} |\nabla \bar{u}_{n_k}|^2 \, dx.$$

Proof. The result is a variant of [1, Proposition 7.5], where the conclusion is proved for

$$[(u_n \wedge \tau^+(u_n, B_1) \vee \tau^-(u_n, B_1)] - m_n,$$

where  $m_n$  is a median for  $u_n$ , while  $\tau^{\pm}(u_n, B_1)$  are truncation levels associated to the Poincaré inequality in SBV (see [1, Theorem 4.14]). In our situation, truncation from below is not necessary since the functions are positive, and the use of the median can be avoided because  $u_n$  vanishes on a nontrivial part of  $B_1$ .

We proceed in two steps.

**Step 1.** Up to a subsequence we may assume that for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(4.6)  $|\{u_n = 0\}| \ge \delta > 0.$ 

Let us set following [17]

$$\tau_n := \tau^+(u_n, B_1) := \inf \left\{ t \ge 0 : |\{u < t\}| > \omega_d - [2\gamma_\delta \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n})]^{\frac{d}{d-1}} \right\},\$$

where  $\gamma_{\delta}$  is the constant for which the isoperimetric inequality

(4.7) 
$$\gamma_{\delta} Per(E, B_1) \ge |E|^{\frac{d-1}{d}}$$

holds true for every set  $E \subset B_1$  such that  $|E| \leq \omega_d - \delta$ : here  $Per(E, B_1)$  denotes the perimeter of E in  $B_1$ .

Let us set  $\bar{u}_n := u_n \wedge \tau_n$  so that

(4.8) 
$$|\{u_n \neq \bar{u}_n\}| \leq [2\gamma_{\delta}\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n})]^{\frac{d}{d-1}}.$$

We may write

(4.9) 
$$|D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) \le \int_{B_1} |\nabla\bar{u}_n| \, dx + \tau_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n}),$$

while using the coarea formula and the isoperimetric inequality (4.7) we have

$$\begin{aligned} |D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) &= \int_0^{+\infty} Per(\{\bar{u}_n > t\}, B_1) \, dt = \int_0^{\tau_n} Per(\{u_n > t\}, B_1) \, dt \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\gamma_\delta} \int_0^{\tau_n} |\{u_n > t\}|^{\frac{d-1}{d}} \, dt. \end{aligned}$$

Notice that the use of the isoperimetric inequality is allowed since

$$\{u_n > t\}| = \omega_d - |\{u_n \le t\}| \le \omega_d - |\{u_n = 0\}| \le \omega_d - \delta.$$

Since by the very definition of  $\tau_n$  we have

$$|\{u_n > t\}|^{\frac{d-1}{d}} \ge 2\gamma_{\delta} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n}) \quad \text{for every } 0 \le t < \tau_n,$$

we conclude

$$|D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) \ge 2\tau_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_n})$$

which together with (4.9) yields

(4.10) 
$$|D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) \le 2 \int_{B_1} |\nabla\bar{u}_n| \, dx.$$

In view of (4.6), Poincaré-Sobolev inequality in BV holds true for  $\bar{u}_n$  (without subtracting a median), so that we may write

$$(4.11) \qquad \left(\int_{B_1} \bar{u}_n^{\frac{d}{d-1}} dx\right)^{\frac{d-1}{d}} \le \eta_{\delta} |D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) \le 2\eta_{\delta} \int_{B_1} |\nabla\bar{u}_n| \, dx \le 2\eta_{\delta} \int_{B_1} |\nabla u_n| \, dx$$
for some  $n \ge 0$ 

for some  $\eta_{\delta} > 0$ .

Let  $d \ge 3$ . Applying the previous inequality to  $v_n := u_n^{\frac{2(d-1)}{d-2}}$ , being  $\tau^+(v_n, B_1) = [\tau^+(u_n, B_1)]^{\frac{2(d-1)}{d-2}}$ we deduce by a straightforward calculation

(4.12) 
$$\|\bar{u}_n\|_{L^{2^*}} \le c_\delta \|\nabla u_n\|_{L^2}.$$

for some  $c_{\delta} > 0$ , where as usual  $2^* := \frac{2d}{d-2}$ . If d = 2, for any q > 2 Poincaré-Sobolev inequality together with (4.10) yields

(4.13) 
$$\|\bar{u}_n\|_{L^q} \le \eta_{\delta,q} |D\bar{u}_n|(B_1) \le 2\eta_{\delta,q} \int_{B_1} |\nabla\bar{u}_n| \, dx \le 2\eta_{\delta,q} |B_1|^{1/2} \|\nabla u_n\|_{L^2}.$$

Step 2. Thanks to (4.10), (4.11) and (4.12) ((4.13) if d = 2), in view of the compact embedding of BV into  $L^1$ , there exist  $u \in BV(B_1) \cap L^2(B_1)$  and  $\{u_{n_k}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that

$$\bar{u}_{n_k} \to u$$
 strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$ .

Using Ambrosio's theorem on  $\bar{u}_n \wedge M$  for any M > 0 as in [1, Proposition 7.5], we infer that  $u \in H^1(B_1)$ , so that the conclusion follows (take into account (4.8)).

**Proposition 4.5.** Let  $u_n := (u_1^n, u_2^n, \dots, u_k^n) \in \mathcal{U}(B_1)$  and  $c_n > 0$  be such that

(4.14) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n}) \to 0, \qquad \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_1) \le C, \qquad Dev(u_n, c_n, B_1) \to 0.$$

Assume that, for some  $2 \le m \le k$ ,

ı

(4.15) 
$$\liminf_{n} |\{u_i^n \neq 0\}| > 0 \qquad i = 1, \dots, m$$

(4.16) 
$$\lim_{n} |\{u_i^n \neq 0\}| = 0 \qquad i = m+1, \dots, k.$$

Then up to a subsequence

$$(u_1^n, \dots, u_m^n) \to (u_1, \dots, u_m) \in H^1(B_1; \mathbb{R}^m)$$
 a.e. in  $B_1$ 

where  $(u_1, \ldots, u_m)$  is a multiphase local minimizer for the Dirichlet energy with

(4.17) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx = \lim_{n} \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_{\rho})$$

for every  $0 \leq \rho < 1$ .

*Proof.* We follow [1, Theorem 7.7] adapting the arguments to our multiphase setting. We divide the proof in several steps.

**Step 1: Compactness**. By Helly's theorem we may assume that up to a subsequence for every  $\rho \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_\rho) = \alpha(\rho),$$

where  $\alpha : [0,1] \to [0,+\infty[$  is non decreasing. Moreover we may assume  $c_n \to c_\infty \in [0,+\infty]$ .

In view of (4.14), (4.15) and (4.16), by Lemma 4.4 (applied to the positive and negative parts of  $u_n$ ) we get that up to a subsequence, for i = 1, ..., m

$$\bar{u}_i^n \to u_i \in H^1(B_1)$$
 strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$ ,

while for i = m + 1, ..., k (notice that the set on which they vanish converges to  $B_1$  in measure)

$$\bar{u}_i^n \to 0$$
 strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$ .

More precisely,  $\bar{u}_i^n := (u_n^i)^+ \wedge \tau_{i,+}^n - (u_n^i)^- \wedge \tau_{i,-}^n$  with  $\tau_{i,\pm}^n > 0$  and

$$|\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\}| \le c_d \left(\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n})\right)^{d/d-1} \to 0.$$

This means that

$$a_n \to (u_1, \dots, u_m, 0, \dots, 0)$$
 a.e. in  $B_1$ 

with  $u_i \cdot u_j = 0$  a.e. in  $B_1$  for  $i \neq j$ , while

$$\bar{u}_n := (\bar{u}_1^n, \dots, \bar{u}_k^n) \to (u_1, \dots, u_m, 0, \dots, 0) \qquad \text{strongly in } L^2(B_1; \mathbb{R}^k).$$

Finally, thanks again to Lemma 4.4 for every  $\rho \in [0, 1]$ 

u

(4.18) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx \le \liminf_n \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla \bar{u}_i^n|^2 \, dx \le \alpha(\rho).$$

**Step 2: Local minimality for**  $\bar{u}_n$ . We may write thanks to (4.14)

$$c_n \int_0^1 \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\} \cap \partial B_\rho) \, d\rho = c_n |\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\} \cap B_1| \le cc_n \left(\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n})\right)^{d/d-1} \\ = cc_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n}) \left[\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n})\right]^{1/d-1} \to 0.$$

Thus up to a further subsequence, we may assume that for every  $i = 1, \ldots, k$  and for a.e.  $\rho \in [0, 1]$ 

$$c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\} \cap \partial B_\rho) \to 0.$$

Since  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\bar{u}_i^n} \cap \partial B_{\rho}) = 0$  for a.e.  $\rho \in [0,1]$ , by comparing  $u_n$  with

$$v_n := (v_1^n, \dots, v_k^n)$$

where

$$v_i^n := \bar{u}_i^n \mathbf{1}_{B_\rho} + u_i^n \mathbf{1}_{B_1 \setminus B_\rho}, \qquad \rho \in [0, 1[,$$

we get

$$\Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \le \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_\rho)$$

$$\leq \Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) + \sum_{i=1}^k c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\} \cap \partial B_\rho) + Dev(u_n, c_n, B_1).$$

We conclude that for a.e.  $\rho \in [0, 1[$ 

(4.19) 
$$\Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \to \alpha(\rho),$$

and since (see e.g. [1, Lemma 7.3])

$$Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \le \Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) - \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_\rho) + \sum_{i=1}^k c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\} \cap \partial B_\rho) + Dev(u_n, c_n, B_1),$$

we infer

$$(4.20) Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \to 0 for a.e. \ \rho \in [0, 1[.$$

#### Step 3: Multiphase local minimality in the limit. Let us consider

$$(v_1,\ldots,v_m)\in H^1(B_1;\mathbb{R}^m)$$

admissible multiphase competitor for  $(u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ . Let us choose  $\rho < \rho' < 1$  such that

$$\{(v_1,\ldots,v_m)\neq(u_1,\ldots,u_m)\}\subset\subset B_\rho,$$

the function  $\alpha$  is continuous at  $\rho'$ , the convergences (4.19) and (4.20) hold true at  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ . Let us set

$$w_i^n := \varphi v_i + (1 - \varphi)\bar{u}_i^n \qquad i = 1, \dots, m$$

and

$$w_j^n := (1 - \varphi)\bar{u}_j^n \qquad j = m + 1, \dots, k$$

where  $\varphi$  is a smooth cut-off function such that  $\varphi = 1$  on  $B_{\rho}$ , the support of  $\varphi$  is contained in  $B_{\rho'}$ , and such that  $|\nabla \varphi| \leq C/(\rho' - \rho)$ . Notice that  $w_n := (w_1^n, \dots, w_k^n)$  is not a priori a good competitor for  $\bar{u}_n$  since we have no control

on the supports of the components. Following [14] we set

$$v_i^n := \left( (w_i^n)^+ - \sum_{j \neq i} |w_j^n| \right)^+ - \left( (w_i^n)^- - \sum_{j \neq i} |w_j^n| \right)^+$$

Notice that  $v^n := (v_1^n, \ldots, v_k^n)$  coincides with  $\bar{u}_n$  on  $B_1 \setminus B_\rho$ . Moreover the supports of  $v_i^n$  are mutually disjoint. Indeed if for example  $v_i^n(x) > 0$ , then for  $h \neq i$ 

$$|w_i^n(x)| = (w_i^n)^+(x) > \sum_{i \neq j} |w_j^n|(x) \ge |w_h^n|(x) = (w_h^n)^+(x) + (w_h^n)^-(x),$$

which yields immediately  $v_h^n(x) = 0$ .

We conclude that  $v^n$  is an admissible competitor for  $\bar{u}_n$  with

$$v^n \to (v_1, \dots, v_m, 0, \dots, 0)$$
 strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$ 

and

$$v^n = (v_1, \dots, v_m, 0, \dots, 0) \qquad \text{in } B_\rho.$$

Comparing  $v^n$  with  $\bar{u}_n$  we get easily for some c > 0 (see e.g. [1, Lemma 7.4])

$$\begin{split} \Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) &\leq \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_\rho} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \\ &+ c \left[ \Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'} \setminus B_\rho) + \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_{\rho'} \setminus B_\rho} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx + \frac{1}{(\rho' - \rho)^2} \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_{\rho'} \setminus B_\rho} |\bar{u}_i^n - v_i^n|^2 \, dx \right] \\ &+ Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'}), \end{split}$$

so that, in the limit as  $n \to +\infty$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(\rho) &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_{i}|^{2} dx \\ &+ c \left[ \alpha(\rho') - \alpha(\rho) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho'} \setminus B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_{i}|^{2} dx + \frac{1}{(\rho' - \rho)^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho'} \setminus B_{\rho}} |u_{i} - v_{i}|^{2} dx \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Letting  $\rho \to \rho'$ , and since  $u_i = v_i$  on  $B_{\rho'} \setminus B_{\rho}$ , we infer

$$\alpha(\rho') \le \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_{\rho'}} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx.$$

Choosing  $v_i = u_i$  and recalling (4.18) we deduce that

$$\sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_{\rho'}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx = \alpha(\rho')$$

which yields in particular the multiphase local minimality of the limit configuration  $(u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ .

If  $\rho \in [0, 1[$ , we can choose  $\rho' > \rho$  satisfying the relation above, so that by monotonicity

$$\alpha(\rho) \le \alpha(\rho') = \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_{\rho'}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx$$

For  $\rho' \to \rho$  we deduce relation (4.17) and the proof is concluded.

**Proposition 4.6.** Let  $u_n := (u_1^n, u_2^n, \dots, u_k^n) \in \mathcal{U}(B_1)$  and  $c_n > 0$  be such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}\left(J_{u_i^n}\right) \to 0, \qquad \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_1) \le C, \qquad Dev(u_n, c_n, B_1) \to 0.$$

Assume that for every  $2 \le i \le k$ 

$$\lim_{n} |\{u_i^n \neq 0\}| = 0.$$

Then up to a subsequence

$$u_1^n - m_n \to u_1 \in H^1(B_1)$$
 a.e. in  $B_1$ 

where  $m_n$  is a median of  $u_1^n$ , and  $u_1$  is a local minimizer for the Dirichlet energy with

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_1|^2 \, dx = \lim_n \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_{\rho})$$

for every  $0 \leq \rho < 1$ .

*Proof.* The proof is a variant of that of Proposition 4.5. We need to employ a median for  $u_1^n$  since we have no control on the size of its zero set.

By Helly's theorem we may assume that up to a subsequence for every  $\rho \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\lim_{n} \Phi(u_n, c_n, B_\rho) = \alpha(\rho),$$

where  $\alpha : [0, 1] \to [0, +\infty[$  is non decreasing. Moreover we may assume  $c_n \to c_\infty \in [0, +\infty]$ . We divide the proof in several steps.

Step 1: Truncation for  $(u_2^n, \ldots, u_k^n)$ . We can repeat Step 1 and Step 2 of the proof of Proposition 4.5 working on  $(u_2^n, \ldots, u_k^n)$  for which we know that the corresponding zero set is converging in measure the entire  $B_1$ . We infer that

$$\bar{u}_n := (u_1^n, \bar{u}_2^n, \dots, \bar{u}_k^n)$$

is such that for a.e.  $\rho \in [0,1[$ 

(4.21)

and

$$(4.22) Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \to 0.$$

Here 
$$\bar{u}_i^n := (u_n^i)^+ \wedge \tau_{i,+}^n - (u_n^i)^- \wedge \tau_{i,-}^n$$
 with  $\tau_{i,\pm}^n > 0$ ,

$$\bar{u}_i^n \to 0$$
 strongly in  $L^2(B_1)$ 

 $\Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \to \alpha(\rho)$ 

and

$$|\{u_i^n \neq \bar{u}_i^n\}| \le c_d \left(\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n})\right)^{d/d-1} \to 0.$$

Step 2: Local minimality for  $u_1^n$ . Let us fix  $\rho \in [0, 1]$  satisfying (4.21), (4.22) and such that  $\alpha$  is continuous at  $\rho$ . Let  $v_n \in SBV(B_1)$  be such that

$$\{v_n \neq u_1^n\} \subset \subset B_{\rho}.$$

Let us consider  $\rho' > \rho$  satisfying (4.21), (4.22), and let us compare  $\bar{u}_n$  with  $(v_n, \varphi \bar{u}_2^n, \ldots, \varphi \bar{u}_k^n)$ , where  $\varphi$  is a smooth cut-off function such that  $\varphi = 0$  on  $B_\rho$ ,  $\varphi = 1$  on  $B_1 \setminus B_{\rho'}$ , and  $|\nabla \varphi| \leq 2/(\rho' - \rho)$ . We get

,

$$\begin{split} \Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'}) &\leq \int_{B_{\rho'}} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx + 2 \sum_{i=2}^{\kappa} \int_{B_{\rho'}} [\varphi^2 |\nabla \bar{u}_i^n|^2 + (\bar{u}_i^n)^2 |\nabla \varphi|^2] \, dx \\ &+ c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_n} \cap B_{\rho'}) + c_n \sum_{i=2}^{k} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{\varphi \bar{u}_i^n} \cap B_{\rho'}) + Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'}), \end{split}$$

so that

(4.23) 
$$\Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_\rho) \le \int_{B_\rho} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_n} \cap B_\rho) + e_n(\rho, \rho')$$

where

$$e_n(\rho,\rho') := 2\Phi(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'} \setminus B_{\rho}) + \frac{8}{(\rho' - \rho)^2} \sum_{i=2}^k \int_{B_1} |\bar{u}_i^n|^2 \, dx + Dev(\bar{u}_n, c_n, B_{\rho'}).$$

In particular we may write

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_1^n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_1^n} \cap B_{\rho}) \le \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_n} \cap B_{\rho}) + e_n(\rho, \rho').$$

Notice that in view of (4.21) and (4.22) we have

$$\limsup_{n} e_n(\rho, \rho') \le 2[\alpha(\rho') - \alpha(\rho)].$$

Choosing  $\rho'$  of the form  $\rho' := (1 + a_n)\rho$  with a suitable  $a_n > 0$ , we deduce that for a.e.  $\rho \in [0, 1[$ 

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_1^n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_1^n} \cap B_{\rho}) \le \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_n} \cap B_{\rho}) + \hat{e}_n(\rho)$$

with  $\hat{e}_n(\rho) \to 0$  and (choose  $v_n = u_1^n$  in (4.23))

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_1^n|^2 \, dx + c_n \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_1^n} \cap B_{\rho}) \to \alpha(\rho).$$

**Step 3: Conclusion.** In view of Step 2, the function  $u_1^n$  enjoys a local minimality property for the Mumford Shah energy with constant  $c_n$  which is independent of the other phases  $(u_2^n, \ldots, u_k^n)$ . We are thus in the classical setting of [1, Theorem 7.7]: truncating (from above and below) and

4.3. **Proof of the decay estimate.** If  $1/2 \le \tau < 1$ , the result follows by choosing  $C_d \ge 2^d$ . Let us thus consider the case  $0 < \tau < 1/2$ , and let  $C_d > 0$  to be fixed below.

Assume by contradiction that there exist  $\varepsilon_n, \vartheta_n \to 0, B_{\rho_n}(x_n) \subset \Omega$  and  $u_n = (u_1^n, \dots, u_k^n) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i^n} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) = \varepsilon_n \rho_n^{d-1}, \qquad Dev(u_n, B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) = \vartheta_n \Phi(u_n, B_{\rho_n}(x_n)),$$

and

$$\Phi(u_n, B_{\tau\rho_n}(x_n)) > C_d \tau^d \Phi(u_n, B_{\rho_n}(x_n))$$

Setting

$$v_n(y) := \sqrt{\frac{c_n}{\rho_n}} u_n(x_n + \rho_n y), \qquad y \in B_1, \qquad c_n := \frac{\rho_n^{d-1}}{\Phi(u_n, B_{\rho_n}(x_n))},$$

we obtain  $v_n = (v_1^n, \ldots, v_k^n) \in \mathcal{U}(B_1)$  with

$$\Phi(v_n, c_n, B_1) = 1, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^k \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_i^n}) = \varepsilon_n, \qquad Dev(v_n, c_n, B_1) = \vartheta_n$$

and (4.24)

$$\Phi(v_n, c_n, B_\tau) > C_d \tau^d.$$

If the phases vary according to Proposition 4.5, up to a subsequence we have

$$(v_1^n, \dots, v_m^n) \to (v_1, \dots, v_m) \in H^1(B_1; \mathbb{R}^m)$$
 a.e. in  $B_1$ 

with

$$\sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_\rho} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx = \lim_n \Phi(v_n, c_n, B_\rho) \le 1$$

for every  $\rho \in [0, 1[$ , where  $(v_1, \ldots, v_m)$  is a local multiphase minimizer of the Dirichlet energy. Since in view of Proposition 4.3

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} |\nabla v_i|^2 \text{ is subharmonic on } B_1,$$

we deduce that for every  $\rho \in [0, 1/2]$ 

$$\frac{1}{\omega_d \rho^d} \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_\rho} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \le \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_1} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \le 1$$

so that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \le \omega_d \rho^d.$$

Passing to the limit in (4.24) we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^m \int_{B_\tau} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx \ge C_d \tau^d$$

which yields a contradiction if we choose  $C_d > \omega_d$ .

If the phases vary according to Proposition 4.6, up to a subsequence we have

$$u_1^n - m_n \to u_1 \in H^1(B_1)$$
 a.e. in  $B_1$ ,

with

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_1|^2 \, dx = \lim_n \Phi(v_n, c_n, B_{\rho}) \le 1$$

for every  $\rho \in [0, 1[$ , where  $m_n$  is a median of  $u_1^n$ , and  $u_1$  is a local minimizer for the Dirichlet energy. This means that  $u_1$  is harmonic in  $B_1$ , so that the function  $|\nabla u_1|^2$  is subharmonic in  $B_1$ . We can thus adapt the previous arguments to get again a contradiction provided that  $C_d > \omega_d$ .

#### 5. Proof of Theorem 1.2

In this section we finally prove our main result. Let  $u = (u_1, \ldots u_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  be a local almostquasi minimizer of a multiphase free discontinuity problem at every point  $x \in \Omega$ .

We proceed in three steps.

Step 1: Hölder continuity of u and openness of the phases. We denote by  $J_{u_i}^r$  the set of regular points of  $J_{u_i}$  (namely points of density 1), and we set

$$C := \overline{\bigcup_i J^r_{u_i}} \,.$$

Since C is a closed set such that  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_h} \setminus C) = 0$  for every  $h = 1, \ldots, k$ , we deduce that  $u_i \in H^1_{loc}(\Omega \setminus C)$ . Moreover, thanks to the local minimality, we get that, for every  $B_{\rho}(x) \subset \Omega \setminus C$ ,

$$\int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx \le \Lambda d\omega_d \rho^{d-1} + c_{\alpha} \rho^{d-1+\alpha}.$$

By Poincaré inequality we infer

$$\int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |u_{i} - (u_{i})_{x,\rho}|^{2} dx \leq C_{d} \rho^{2} \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} dx \leq C_{d} (\Lambda d\omega_{d} \rho^{d+1} + c_{\alpha} \rho^{d+1+\alpha}),$$

where  $(u_i)_{x,\rho}$  denotes the integral mean of  $u_i$  on  $B_{\rho}(x)$ . Thanks to Campanato's criterion (see e.g. [1, Theorem 7.51]), we deduce that  $u_i$  is locally Hölder continuous (with exponent 1/2) in  $\Omega \setminus C$ . In particular we obtain  $J_{u_i} \setminus C = \emptyset$ , so that

$$\bigcup_i J_{u_i} \subseteq C \subseteq \overline{\bigcup_i J_{u_i}},$$

which entails (C is closed)

(5.1) 
$$\overline{\bigcup_{i} J_{u_i}} = C.$$

From the local Hölder continuity of u in  $\Omega \setminus \overline{\bigcup_i J_{u_i}}$ , we infer that the phases  $\Omega_i := \{x \in \Omega \setminus \overline{\bigcup_j J_{u_j}} : u_i(x) \neq 0\}$  are open sets, whose boundary is composed either of jump points of  $u_i$  or of regular points for which  $u_i = 0$ .

Step 2: Essential closedness of the union of jump sets. In view of (5.1), in order to obtain the essential closedness of  $\bigcup_i J_{u_i}$ , it is enough to show that

(5.2) 
$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}\left(\overline{\bigcup_{i} J_{u_{i}}^{r}} \setminus \bigcup_{i} J_{u_{i}}\right) = 0.$$

Let  $x \in \bigcup_i J_{u_i}^r$ , and let  $F_u(\rho)$  be defined as in Theorem 3.1. By Theorem 3.1, comparing  $F_u(\rho)$  with its behaviour as  $\rho \to 0^+$ , we obtain, for  $\rho \in (0, dist(x, \partial \Omega))$ 

$$\left[\frac{1}{\rho^{d-1}}\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_{i}} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}(x))\right)\right] + (d-1)\frac{c_{\alpha}}{\alpha}\rho^{\alpha} \ge \omega_{d-1} \wedge \frac{c_{d}\Lambda^{2-d}}{d-1}.$$

Hence there exists  $\rho_0 > 0$  and  $C_0 > 0$  (independent of x) such that for every  $\rho < dist(x, \partial\Omega) \land \rho_0$ 

(5.3) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}(x)) \right) \ge C_0 \rho^{d-1}.$$

By continuity, we can extend the above inequality to points  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\bigcup_i J_{u_i}^r}$ .

Now we recall the well-known fact that, since  $u_i \in SBV(\Omega)$ , it holds

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0^+} \rho^{1-d} \sum_{i=1}^k \left( \int_{B_\rho(y)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_\rho(y)) \right) = 0$$

for  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$ -a.e.  $y \in \Omega \setminus \bigcup_i J_{u_i}$  (see for instance [17, Theorem 3.6]). In view of this fact, the validity of inequality (5.3) for points  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\bigcup_i J_{u_i}^r}$  tells us that

$$\overline{\bigcup_i J^r_{u_i}} \subseteq \bigcup_i J_{u_i} \cup A \,,$$

for some set A with  $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(A) = 0$ , which implies (5.2).

Step 3: Ahlfors regularity of the union of jump sets. Firstly observe that there exist c' > 0and  $\rho'_0 > 0$  such that, for every  $x \in \bigcup_i J_{u_i}$  and every  $B_\rho(x) \subset \Omega$  with  $\rho < \rho'_0$ , it holds

$$c'\rho^{d-1} \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}(x)) \right) \le \frac{1}{c'} \rho^{d-1}$$

Namely, the estimate from above follows immediately from the almost-quasi minimality of u, whereas the estimate from below follows by arguing as in Step 2 (*cf.* (5.1) and (5.3)). A simple monotonicity by inclusion argument yields also

(5.4) 
$$c'\rho^{d-1} \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho}(x)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x)) \right) \le \frac{1}{c'} \rho^{d-1} \, .$$

As a consequence of (5.4), we immediately obtain the upper bound inequality in (1.5). In order to show the lower bound inequality in (1.5), we argue by contradiction. Assume there exist sequences  $\{x_n\} \subset \bigcup_i J_{u_i}, \rho_n \to 0, c_n \to 0$  such that

$$\mathcal{H}^{d-1}\Big(\bigcup_i J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)\Big) \le c_n \rho_n^{d-1}$$

and hence

(5.5) 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \Big( J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n) \Big) \le k c_n \rho_n^{d-1} \, .$$

In view of (5.4), this implies that there exists a sequence  $\varepsilon_n \to 0$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^k \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \le \varepsilon_n \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{B_{\rho_n}(x_n)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx \le \frac{\varepsilon_n}{c'} \rho_n^{d-1}.$$

Using the above inequality and the almost-quasi minimality of u, we get, for every  $(v_1, \ldots, v_k) \in \mathcal{U}(\Omega)$  such that  $\bigcup_i \{v_i \neq u_i\} \subset \subset B_{\rho_n}(x_n)$ 

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho_n}(x_n)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \Lambda \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \right)$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho_n}(x_n)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{k} (\Lambda - 1) \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \right)$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( \int_{B_{\rho_n}(x_n)} |\nabla v_i|^2 \, dx + \Lambda \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{v_i} \cap B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \right) + c_\alpha \rho_n^{d-1+\alpha} + (\Lambda - 1) \frac{\varepsilon_n}{c'} \rho_n^{d-1}.$$

26

Setting

$$\Phi(u,\Lambda,A) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left[ \int_{A} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx + \Lambda \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(J_{u_i} \cap A) \right]$$

the previous inequality reads

$$\Phi(u,\Lambda,B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \le \Phi(v,\Lambda,B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) + c_\alpha \rho_n^{d-1+\alpha} + (\Lambda-1)\frac{\varepsilon_n}{c'}\rho_n^{d-1},$$

which means that the associated deviation from minimality (with coefficient  $\Lambda$ ) of u in  $B_{\rho_n}(x_n)$ (see (4.1)) satisfies

$$Dev(u, \Lambda, B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \leq \left[ (\Lambda - 1) \frac{\varepsilon_n}{c'} + c_\alpha \rho_n^\alpha \right] \rho_n^{d-1}.$$

Recalling (5.4), this implies

(5.6) 
$$Dev(u,\Lambda,B_{\rho_n}(x_n)) \le \theta_n \Phi(u,\Lambda,B_{\rho_n}(x_n)),$$

for an infinitesimal sequence  $\theta_n$ . By (5.5) and (5.6), applying Theorem 4.1 ( $\Lambda$  is fixed), for every  $\tau \in (0, 1)$  and n large enough, we obtain that

$$\Phi(u,\Lambda,B_{\tau\rho_n}(x_n)) \le C_d \tau^d \Phi(u,\Lambda,B_{\rho_n}(x_n))$$

This contradicts the energy estimate (5.4) as soon as  $\tau$  is chosen small enough.

Acknowledgments. The first author was supported by the ANR-15-CE40-0006 COMEDIC project, the "Geometry and Spectral Optimization" research programme LabEx PERSYVAL-Lab GeoSpec (ANR-11-LABX-0025-01) and Institut Universitaire de France. He is also indebted to Jacques-Olivier Lachaud for interesting discussions and fruitful suggestions on the topic.

#### References

- N. Ambrosio, L. Fusco and D. Pallara, Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems, Oxford Mathematical Monographs, The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, 2000.
- [2] D. Bucur and G. Buttazzo, Variational methods in shape optimization problems, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, vol. 65, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2005.
- [3] D. Bucur, I. Fragalà, and A. Giacomini, Optimal partitions for Robin Laplacian eigenvalues, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 57 (2018), no. 5, Art. 122, 18.
- [4] D. Bucur, I. Fragalà, and A. Giacomini, The multiphase Mumford-Shah problem, SIAM J. Imaging Sci. 12 (2019), no. 3, 1561–1583. MR 4011681
- [5] D. Bucur and S. Luckhaus, Monotonicity formula and regularity for general free discontinuity problems, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 211 (2014), no. 2, 489–511.
- [6] D. Bucur and B. Velichkov, Multiphase shape optimization problems, SIAM J. Control Optim. 52 (2014), no. 6, 3556–3591.
- [7] L. A. Caffarelli and F. H. Lin, Analysis on the junctions of domain walls, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 28 (2010), no. 3, 915–929.
- [8] L. A. Caffarelli and F.H. Lin, An optimal partition problem for eigenvalues, J. Sci. Comput. 31 (2007), no. 1-2, 5–18.
- [9] L.A. Caffarelli and D. Kriventsov, A free boundary problem related to thermal insulation, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 41 (2016), no. 7, 1149–1182.
- [10] M. Caroccia, Cheeger N-clusters, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56 (2017), no. 2, Art. 30, 35. MR 3610172
- [11] T. Chan, S. Esedoglu, and K. Ni, *Histogram Based Segmentation Using Wasserstein Distances*, Scale Space and Variational Methods in Computer Vision (Berlin, Heidelberg) (Fiorella Sgallari, Almerico Murli, and Nikos Paragios, eds.), Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007, pp. 697–708.
- [12] C. Chen, J. Leng, and G. Xu, A general framework of piecewise-polynomial Mumford-Shah model for image segmentation, Int. J. Comput. Math. 94 (2017), no. 10, 1981–1997. MR 3679406
- [13] T.H. Colding and W.P. Minicozzi, II, Harmonic functions with polynomial growth, J. Differential Geom. 46 (1997), no. 1, 1–77.
- [14] M. Conti, S. Terracini, and G. Verzini, A variational problem for the spatial segregation of reaction-diffusion systems, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 54 (2005), no. 3, 779–815.

- [15] G. Dal Maso, J.-M. Morel, and S. Solimini, A variational method in image segmentation: existence and approximation results, Acta Math. 168 (1992), no. 1-2, 89–151. MR 1149865
- [16] E. De Giorgi and L. Ambrosio, New functionals in the calculus of variations, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. (8) 82 (1988), no. 2, 199–210 (1989).
- [17] E. De Giorgi, M. Carriero, and A. Leaci, Existence theorem for a minimum problem with free discontinuity set, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 108 (1989), no. 3, 195–218.
- [18] M. Focardi, Fine regularity results for Mumford-Shah minimizers: porosity, higher integrability and the Mumford-Shah conjecture, Free discontinuity problems, CRM Series, vol. 19, Ed. Norm., Pisa, 2016, pp. 1–68.
- [19] M. Focardi and M.S. Gelli, Relaxation of free-discontinuity energies with obstacles, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 14 (2008), no. 4, 879–896. MR 2451801
- [20] G. A. Francfort and J.-J. Marigo, Revisiting brittle fracture as an energy minimization problem, J. Mech. Phys. Solids 46 (1998), no. 8, 1319–1342. MR 1633984
- [21] N. Fusco, An overview of the Mumford-Shah problem, Milan J. Math. 71 (2003), 95-119. MR 2120917
- [22] Y. Gu, W. Xiong, L.-L. Wang, and J. Cheng, Generalizing Mumford-Shah model for multiphase piecewise smooth image segmentation, IEEE Trans. Image Process. 26 (2017), no. 2, 942–952. MR 3604835
- [23] M. Jungen, A model of columnar jointing, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.
- [24] S. H. Kang and R. March, Existence and regularity of minimizers of a functional for unsupervised multiphase segmentation, Nonlinear Anal. 76 (2013), 181–201. MR 2974259
- [25] D. Mumford and J. Shah, Optimal approximations by piecewise smooth functions and associated variational problems, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), no. 5, 577–685. MR 997568
- [26] K. Ni, X. Bresson, T. Chan, and S. Esedoglu, Local Histogram Based Segmentation Using the Wasserstein Distance, International Journal of Computer Vision 84 (2009), no. 1, 97–111.
- [27] B. Sandberg, S. H. Kang, and T. F. Chan, Unsupervised multiphase segmentation: a phase balancing model, IEEE Trans. Image Process. 19 (2010), no. 1, 119–130. MR 2729960
- [28] L.A. Vese and T.F. Chan, A Multiphase Level Set Framework for Image Segmentation Using the Mumford and Shah Model, International Journal of Computer Vision 50 (2002), no. 3, 271–293. MR 1012174

(Dorin Bucur) UNIV. SAVOIE MONT BLANC, CNRS, LAMA, 73000 CHAMBÉRY (FRANCE) *Email address:* dorin.bucur@univ-savoie.fr

(Ilaria Fragalà) Dipartimento di Matematica, Politecnico di Milano, Piazza Leonardo da Vinci, 32, 20133 Milano (Italy)

Email address: ilaria.fragala@polimi.it

(Alessandro Giacomini) DICATAM, SEZIONE DI MATEMATICA, UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI BRESCIA, VIA BRANZE 43, 25133 BRESCIA, ITALY

Email address, A. Giacomini: alessandro.giacomini@unibs.it